NO. 32708-6-III
(Consolidated with 32760-4-III)

COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

THOMAS LEE WEATHERWAX,

Defendant/Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Dennis W. Morgan WSBA #5286
Attorney for Appellant
P.O. Box 1019
Republic, Washington 99166
(509) 775-0777

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that a fire-arm was discharged from the immediate area of a motor vehicle as set forth in Counts V, VI and VII (drive-by shooting) of the Second Amended Information. (CP 51)

2. The trial court committed multiple sentencing errors including:

- (a) Imposing mandatory minimum terms on the first degree assault convictions;
- (b) Using Count I (first degree assault) as the predicate offense for calculating the offender score;
- (c) Miscalculating the offender score;
- (d) Imposing conditions of community custody which are improper.

3. The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and every element of the offense of first degree assault under Count I of the Second Amended Information.

ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Should Thomas Lee Weatherwax's convictions for drive-by shooting be reversed and dismissed due to the fact that the State was unable to establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, the location of any motor vehicle that may have been involved in the offenses?

2. Does *Personal Restraint of Tran*, 154 Wn.2d 323, 111 P.3d 1168 (2005) and RCW 9.94A.540(1)(b) preclude application of mandatory minimum terms of five (5) years each on Mr. Weatherwax's first degree assault convictions?

3. Does *State v. Breaux*, 167 Wn. App. 166, 273 P.3d 447 (2012) and RCW 9.94A.595 require the use of an anticipatory offense (conspiracy to commit first degree assault) as the predicate offense for calculation of Mr. Weatherwax's offender score?

4. Did the trial court miscalculate Mr. Weatherwax's offender score?

5. Are the following conditions imposed by the trial court improper:

- (a) A finding that use of a motor vehicle was involved in commission of the offenses of first degree assault, drive-by shooting and conspiracy to commit first degree assault; and

(b) Gang-related prohibitions contained in the terms of community custody.

6. Did the State establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, the offense of first degree assault pertaining to Leroy Bercier?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Seventeen (17) year-old Leroy Bercier was inside a convenience store at 5803 North Market Street on September 24, 2013. He was dressed in varying shades of blue including his shirt, jeans, shoes and belt. (RP 154, ll. 23-24; RP 155, l. 1; ll. 15-17; ll. 21-22; RP 156, ll. 16-22; RP 318, ll. 1-7; RP 374, l. 24 to RP 375, l. 9)

Mr. Bercier denies gang membership. Cpl. Rose was unable to determine if Mr. Bercier was a member of a gang. Mr. Bercier admitted that he had family members who belonged to a gang. (RP 156, ll. 8-13; RP 414, ll. 21-22; RP 415, ll. 12-15; RP 554, l. 3 to RP 555, l. 7)

Mr. Weatherwax and Jayme Rodgers are both recognized members of the Norteno Red Boyz. Mr. Weatherwax has been arrested in the past with regard to gang graffiti. Both he and Mr. Rodgers display gang tattoos. (RP 493, ll. 12-15; RP 502, l. 9 to RP 503, l. 8; RP 504, ll. 15-18; RP 505, ll. 3-10; ll. 16-20; RP 538, ll. 1-12; RP 539, ll. 6-11)

Mr. Rodgers confronted Mr. Bercier inside the store. Mr. Weatherwax never entered the store. Mr. Singh, one of the store owners, asked Mr. Rodgers to leave when he confronted Mr. Bercier about his blue shoes. Mr. Rodgers left. (RP 218, ll. 8-9; ll. 18-19; RP 257, ll. 17-20; RP 258, ll. 6-16; RP 271, l. 24 to RP 272, l. 1; RP 326, ll. 4-18)

John Liberty and his son were customers at the store. Mr. Liberty called 9-1-1 when the confrontation occurred. He heard the word “banging.” He identified both Mr. Rodgers and Mr. Weatherwax as the persons involved. (RP 274, l. 24 to RP 275, l. 5; RP 275, ll. 8-22; RP 276, ll. 4-11; RP 278, ll. 3-6; ll. 14-21; RP 278, l. 25 to RP 275, l. 9; RP 290, ll. 3-10)

Louie Stromberg and Amanda Smith were also customers at the store when the confrontation occurred between Mr. Rodgers and Mr. Bercier. Mr. Stromberg observed that Mr. Bercier was “scared shitless.” Mr. Bercier told him he was afraid of being jumped. After Mr. Bercier left the store Mr. Stromberg kept an eye on him. Mr. Bercier came running back into the store as Mr. Stromberg and Ms. Smith went to their car. (RP 227, ll. 17-24; RP 228, ll. 1-7; RP 229, ll. 2-3; ll. 17-18; RP 232, ll. 12-21)

Mr. Bercier claims he was intoxicated on September 24. He remembers running back into the store. He heard the shots afterwards. (RP

160, l. 3; RP 219, l. 11 to RP 220, l. 6; RP 220, l. 24 to RP 221, l. 6; RP 225, ll. 9-21)

Mr. Stromberg saw two (2) individuals walk around from behind parked semis. He asked them what was going on. He then heard something and his car window exploded. He observed muzzle flashes as six (6) to ten (10) shots occurred. (RP 232, l. 21 to RP 233, l. 7; RP 234, ll. 18-20; RP 235, ll. 2-6)

Mr. Stromberg has poor eyesight. He could not identify either individual. He could not tell what color clothes they were wearing. He did not hear them say anything to Mr. Bercier. Mr. Bercier was already inside the store when the shots were fired. (RP 234, ll. 1-2; RP 243, ll. 7-11; RP 247, ll. 9-12; RP 249, ll. 22-25; RP 255, ll. 1-6)

Mr. Singh heard the gunshots. No damage was ever found on the front of the store. (RP 228, ll. 22-23; RP 557, ll. 821)

Mr. Weatherwax, Mr. Rodgers and one of their friends was at a convenience store earlier in the evening of September 24, 2013. Mr. Weatherwax was wearing a red stocking cap and red t-shirt with a Huelga bird. Mr. Rodgers was wearing a red hoodie. The hoodie was later found in the backseat of Mr. Rodgers' car at 5611 North Perry. In the trunk of the car was a .380 Browning handgun. (RP 417, ll. 7-18; RP 419, ll. 5-12;

RP 422, ll. 4-6; RP 425, ll. 9-17; RP 513, ll. 9-17; RP 523, ll. 9-15; RP 524, ll. 1-18)

Mr. Rodgers and Mr. Weatherwax were later arrested at 5611 North Perry. In addition to the .380 Browning found in the trunk of Mr. Rodgers' car, officers recovered a Makarov 9 mm inside of a holster that had been placed in the dryer at the residence property. Natalie Lemery advised the officers that she had put the Makarov in the dryer. (RP 176, ll. 22-25; RP 182, ll. 5-14; RP 193, ll. 10-21; RP 342, ll. 1-11; RP 371, ll. 14-23; RP 376, ll. 1-3; ll. 22-24; RP 426, l. 22 to RP 427, l. 4; RP 427, l. 24 to RP 428, l. 1)

Natalie Lemery is Mr. Weatherwax's friend. She had asked him to have an unwanted guest removed from her home on September 24. (RP 177, ll. 20-25; RP 178, ll. 4-24)

The magazine of the .380 was empty. There were six (6) bullets in the Makarov. Five (5) in the magazine and one (1) in the chamber. (RP 425, ll. 9-17; RP 429, ll. 17-21; RP 430, ll. 5-8)

The two (2) firearms were sent to the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab (WSPCL). Glenn Davis, a forensic scientist at WSPCL, determined that both guns were operable. The Browning has a capacity of seven (7) bullets with one (1) in the chamber and the Makarov has the same capacity. Mr. Davis determined that a bullet fragment recovered

from Mr. Stromberg's car matched the .380. No 9 mm bullets were recovered. (RP 337, ll. 15-18; RP 440, ll. 8-10; RP 449, ll. 8-21; RP 450, ll. 4-14; RP 452, ll. 10-15; RP 454, ll. 4-6; RP 455, l. 1-5; RP 570, ll. 15-20)

Kristi Barr is a former forensic scientist at WSPCL. She conducted DNA testing on a number of items. The Makarov holster had two (2) contributors. Mr. Weatherwax was the major contributor. Testing on the Makarov was inclusive. Testing on the Browning was inconclusive. (RP 464, ll. 14-21; RP 471, ll. 18-24; RP 472, ll. 9-16; RP 474, ll. 1-14)

An Information was filed on September 27, 2013 charging Mr. Weatherwax and Mr. Rodgers with one (1) count of first degree assault and one (1) count of drive-by shooting. Firearm enhancements were included. (CP 9)

An Amended Information was filed on November 21, 2013. It added two (2) additional counts of first degree assault and two (2) additional counts of drive-by shooting. All of them contained the firearm enhancement. (CP 34)

A Second Amended Information was filed on April 3, 2014. Gang enhancements were added; firearm enhancements were removed from the drive-by shooting counts; a count of conspiracy to commit first degree assault with enhancements was added; and Mr. Weatherwax was separately charged with unlawful possession of a firearm first degree (UPF1°).

A number of agreed scheduling orders were entered. Trial finally commenced on May 5, 2014. (CP 17; CP 36; CP 37; CP 44)

Mr. Weatherwax stipulated that he had a prior serious felony conviction for purposes of the UPF1°. (CP 207; RP 489, ll. 16-18)

A jury found Mr. Weatherwax guilty of all eight (8) counts. The jury also answered yes to each of the special verdict forms concerning firearm and gang enhancements. (CP 269; CP 270; CP 271; CP 272; CP 273; CP 274; CP 275; CP 276; CP 277; CP 278; CP 279; CP 280; CP 281; CP 282; CP 283)

The trial court denied Mr. Weatherwax's motion to arrest judgment on July 21, 2014. (CP 284; RP 808, l. 3 to RP 813, l. 2)

Mr. Weatherwax filed a Notice of Appeal on July 31, 2014 even though Judgment and Sentence was not entered until August 18, 2014. (CP 326; CP 330)

In calculating the offender score the trial court and the State used Count I as the predicate offense (first degree assault involving Mr. Bercier). Mr. Weatherwax was assigned an offender score of eight (8). He received consecutive sentences on Counts I, II, III and IV. Counts I, III and IV were assessed five (5) year mandatory minimum terms. Firearm enhancements on those counts were doubled due to a prior conviction where a firearm was involved. This added three hundred and sixty (360)

months to Mr. Weatherwax's sentence. (CP 335)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State did not establish the location of the car in connection with Counts V, VI and VII (drive-by shooting). The convictions must be reversed and dismissed.

Imposing statutory five (5) year minimum sentences on Counts I, III and IV violates RCW 9.94A.540(1)(b) and *Personal Restraint of Tran, supra*. They must be reversed and removed from the Judgment and Sentence.

Using Count I as the predicate offense for calculating Mr. Weatherwax's offender score violates RCW 9.94A.595. Applying the rule of lenity as the Court did in *State v. Breaux* requires resentencing due to miscalculation of the offender score.

The determination that the motor vehicle was used in the commission of the offenses is unsupported by the record. The Judgment and Sentence needs to be corrected.

The gang-related conditions of community custody violate Mr. Weatherwax's First Amendment rights.

The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Leroy

Bercier was the victim of first degree assault.

ARGUMENT

I. DRIVE-BY SHOOTING

The jury determined that Mr. Weatherwax was guilty of three (3) counts of drive-by shooting. RCW 9A.36.045(1) defines drive-by shooting as follows:

A person is guilty of drive-by shooting when he or she recklessly discharges a firearm as defined in RCW 9.41.010 in a manner which creates a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another person **and the discharge is either from a motor vehicle or from the immediate area of a motor vehicle that was used to transport the shooter or the firearm, or both, to the scene of the discharge.**

(Emphasis supplied.)

The prosecuting attorney candidly admitted in closing argument that the location of the car was unknown. He stated that the car was parked “somewhere off in the dark streets.” (RP 706, ll. 7-8)

Defense counsel, in closing argument, also told the jury that there was no proof of the car’s location. (RP 736, ll. 15-19)

Mr. Weatherwax asserts that under the facts and circumstances of

his case that the controlling authority is *State v. Rodgers*, 146 Wn.2d 55, 43 P.3d 1 (2002).

In the *Rodgers* case the shooting occurred after a car had been parked two (2) blocks from the house where the shooting occurred. The individuals involved walked the two (2) blocks from the car to the house.

The *Rodgers* Court stated at 61-62:

The drive-by shooting statute is ... narrowly drawn and requires the State to produce evidence that the firearm was discharged by the defendant from the “immediate area” of the vehicle which transported the shooter. It seems obvious that one is not in the immediate area of a vehicle that is parked two blocks away from the place where that person discharges a firearm. That is the case we have here and, thus, we have no difficulty saying the evidence is insufficient to support the trial court’s conclusion of law

... A person discharging a firearm two blocks away from a vehicle cannot be said to be in close proximity to that vehicle. To conclude otherwise would be akin to attempting to shove a square peg into a round hole - it does not fit.

When considering the sufficiency of the evidence to establish each and every element of an offense, the test is that set forth in *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980):

“... [T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most

favorable to the prosecution, *any rational trier of fact* could have found the essential elements of the crime *beyond a reasonable doubt.*” *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed.2d 560 (1979).

Since the State could not even present a scintilla of evidence as to the location of the car, it did not meet its burden of proof. Mr. Weatherwax’s convictions for drive-by shooting under Counts V, VI and VII must be dismissed with prejudice.

II. SENTENCING ERRORS

Mr. Weatherwax contends that multiple sentencing errors require a recalculation of his offender score and dismissal of certain mandatory minimums and conditions of community custody. A miscalculated offender score constitutes the basis for an appeal. *See: State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 477-78, 973 P.2d 452 (1999).

Mr. Weatherwax did not object at the sentencing hearing. Nevertheless, he asserts that pursuant to RAP 2.5(a)(3) the sentencing errors are manifest.

“Errors are ‘manifest’ for purposes of RAP 2.5(a)(3) when they have “practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case.” *Roberts* [*State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 14 P.3d 713 (2000)] at 500 (*quoting State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn2d 595, 603, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999).

State v. Mills, 154 Wn.2d 1, 6, 109 P.3d 415 (2005).

A. Mandatory Minimums

RCW 9.94A.540(1) provides, in part:

(b) An offender convicted of the crime of assault in the first degree ... where the offender used force or means likely to result in death or intended to kill the victim shall be sentenced to a term of total confinement not less than five years.

Mr. Weatherwax was convicted of three (3) counts of first degree assault with a firearm. No individual was hit by any bullet. The State did not establish an intent to kill.

Mr. Weatherwax asserts that this issue is controlled by *Personal Restraint of Tran*, *supra* 328-30.

The *Tran* case analyzed the structural differences between RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a) and former RCW 9.94A.120(4) [now RCW 9.94A.540(1)].

The Second Amended Information bases the first degree assault counts on violation of RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a). The Court, in *Tran*, at 329, stated:

As an initial matter, RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a) alone does not *necessarily* satisfy either of these two conditions [referring to the conditions under RCW 9.94A.540(1)(b)]. First, the *actus reus* for first degree assault may be the use of “any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm.” RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a). For purposes of the first

degree assault statute, “great bodily harm” is defined as an “injury which creates a probability of death, or which causes significant serious permanent disfigurement, or which causes a significant permanent loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ.” RCW 9A.04.110(4)(c). It follows that great bodily harm and, therefore, first degree assault may occur in at least three ways that are incongruent with former RCW 9.94A.120(4)’s condition that the offender use “force or means likely to result in death.” (*i.e.*, significant permanent disfigurement, significant permanent loss or impairment of bodily function). Second, to obtain a first degree assault conviction, the perpetrator’s *mens rea* need only be an “intent to inflict great bodily harm.” RCW 9A.36.011(1). Accordingly, not every first degree assault conviction includes an “inten[t] to kill the victim” under the second of the two conditions in former RCW 9.94A.120(4). The lack of direct overlap between the assault and mandatory minimum statutes indicates that the legislature intended to increase the punitive requirement for certain assaults that are characterized by unusually (within the world of assault) violent acts or a particularly sinister intent.

The State failed to establish, for sentencing purposes, that Mr. Weatherwax’s alleged acts fall within the mandatory minimum statute. As the *Tran* Court recognized in *fn.* 6 at 330:

Other provisions in the mandatory minimum sentencing scheme strongly indicate that the legislature understands how to attach a mandatory minimum to a specific crime

without limitation, if it chooses to do so. *See* former RCW 9.94A120(4) (“Offender convicted of the crime of murder in the first degree shall be sentenced to a term ... not less than twenty years” and “offender convicted of the crime of rape in the first degree shall be sentenced to a term ... not less than five years”).

Since the mandatory minimum statute pertaining to first degree assault does not contain the relevant language to bring it within the parameters of the charged offense, the mandatory minimum sentenced attached to each count of first degree assault must be reversed and dismissed.

The *Tran* Court’s conclusion, at 332, fully supports Mr. Weatherwax’s position:

If the legislature had intended every violation of the first degree assault statute to result in a five-year mandatory minimum, it would not have limited former RCW 9.94A.120(4) to assaults characterized by “force or means likely to result in death” or an “inten[t] to kill.”

B. Predicate Offense

The sentencing court used Count I of the Second Amended Information as the predicate offense for sentencing purposes. The sentencing court is in error. The predicate offense is Count II - conspiracy to commit first degree assault.

RCW 9.94A.595 states:

For persons convicted of the anticipatory offenses of criminal attempt, solicitation, or conspiracy under Chapter 9A.28 RCW, the presumptive sentence is determined by locating the sentencing grid sentence range defined by the appropriate offender score and the seriousness level of the crime, and multiplying the range by 75%.

First degree assault is a serious violent offense. It is a Level XII offense. (Appendix "A")

Conspiracy to commit first degree assault is also a Level XII offense.

The trial court determined that Mr. Weatherwax's offender score was eight (8). Using Count I as the predicate offense it imposed a term of two hundred and thirty-four (234) months.

On the other hand, using Count II - conspiracy to commit first degree assault - the standard sentencing range would be one hundred and fifty-six point seven five (156.75) to two hundred and seven point seven five (207.75) months based upon an offender score of eight (8). Mr. Weatherwax will be addressing whether or not eight (8) is the correct offender score in a later portion of this brief.

In *State v. Breaux, supra*, which involved the anticipatory offense of attempted first degree rape, and the completed offense of first degree

rape the Court analyzed the interplay between completed and anticipatory offenses for scoring purposes.

The *Breaux* Court ruled at 176:

To determine the offense with the highest seriousness level, RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) provides for “the highest seriousness level under RCW 9.94A.515.” Anticipatory offenses are not specifically ranked in the seriousness level table in RCW 9.94A.515. That table contains seriousness levels only for completed offenses. First degree rape has a seriousness level 12. From this, the State argues that in the absence of any seriousness level for attempted first degree rape, the completed crime of first degree rape applies when calculating *Breaux*’s offender score under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b). This reading ignores RCW 9.94A.595, which governs the procedure to calculate the standard range for anticipatory offenses

The *Breaux* Court went on to say at 177-78:

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