I.  APPELLANT’S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The evidence was insufficient to support the convictions of drive-

by shooting as set forth in Counts V, VI, and VII of the second 

amended information. 

2. The trial court erred in imposing mandatory minimum terms on the 

first degree assault convictions as set forth in Counts I, III, and IV 

of the second amended information. 

3. The trial court erred in using Count I (first degree assault) as the 

predicate serious violent offense for calculating the offender score. 

4. The trial court miscalculated the offender score. 

5. The trial court erred in imposing improper conditions of 

community custody.

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

was analogous to the condition requiring him to obey all laws.  Antonio C., 

83 Cal.App.4th at 1035.  The court explained, “the condition is 

sufficiently related to his rehabilitation, and is a reasonable exercise of the 

juvenile court's supervisory function to provide for his safety and 

protection.”  Antonio C., 83 Cal.App.4th at 1035.  “Moreover,” the court 

held, “the condition is sufficiently related to his rehabilitation, and is a 

reasonable exercise of the juvenile court's supervisory function to provide 

for his safety and protection.”  Antonio C., 83 Cal.App.4th at 1035. 

The court rejected the minor’s argument that the condition 

infringed on his constitutional right to free speech.  The court stated,  

“Assuming, without deciding, that tattoos and related skin 

markings constitute speech under the First Amendment, the 

probation condition does not unduly burden Antonio's free 

speech rights.  The United States Supreme Court has long 

held that while nonverbal expressive activity cannot be 

banned because of the ideas it expresses, it can be banned 

because of the action it entails.  For example, burning a flag 
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in violation of an ordinance against outdoor fires may be 

punished, whereas burning a flag in violation of an 

ordinance against dishonoring a flag may not.  [Citation.] 

Here, the probation condition, which is content neutral, 

temporarily prohibits Antonio from self-expression through 

permanent skin disfigurement.  Its focus is the manner in 

which the message is conveyed, not the message itself.  As 

such, it constitutes a reasonable manner restriction on 

Antonio's free speech rights.”  

 

Antonio C., 83 Cal.App.4th at 1035 (citations omitted). 

 

In In re Victor L., 182 Cal.App.4th 902, 106 Cal.Rptr.3d 584 

(2010), another division of the California court of appeals agreed with the 

constitutional analysis of Antonio C., and concluded that “the prohibition 

on acquiring tattoos while on juvenile probation is a proper condition for 

gang members or those at risk of becoming gang members, regardless of 

their age, so long as they remain under the juvenile court’s jurisdiction.”  

Victor L., 182 Cal.App.4th at 928.   

 The Victor L. court recognized the same argument was presented 

in Antonio C., where a minor objected to a “probation condition barring 

him from obtaining ‘any new tattoos, brands, burns, piercings, or 

voluntary scarring,’” as unreasonable and an infringement on “his 

constitutional right to free speech.”  The minor requested the court to limit 

the condition to one only “barring new gang-related ” tattoos.  The court 

concluded: “The tattoo and comparable body marking prohibition, as 

applied to Antonio, is a valid probation condition under [People v. Lent 
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(1975) 15 Cal.3d 481, 486] because it relates to criminal conduct.  In 

addition, the state's compelling interest in the protection of children 

justifies the restriction on Antonio's freedom of expression through body 

marking.  As such, the condition does not unduly burden his free speech 

rights and was properly imposed.”  

The Victor L.  court observed, “[j]ust because it is lawful for an 18 

year old to get a tattoo does not mean it is wise,” the court refused to 

modify the condition by limiting its prohibition to the acquisition of new 

tattoos “with gang significance.”  Victor L., supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at 

929–930.  The court of appeals did so for two reasons.  First, “[t]attoos are 

...  commonly worn by gang members to show gang affiliation.  Whether 

tattoos are gang related or not, a heavily tattooed appearance tends to give 

rise to prejudices or suspicions about the tattooed person—warranted or 

not—that could interfere with a ward’s future aspirations, such as 

employment opportunities.  Thus, the prohibition on tattoos tends to steer 

wards away from gang appearance, gang identity, and the social stigma 

sometimes attached to tattoos.” (citations omitted) ( Ibid). 

Second, “gang tattoos may employ obscure symbols not readily 

recognized or catalogued as gang tattoos.  Thus, a complete ban on new 

tattoos enhances the enforceability of the condition.” Victor L., 182 

Cal.App.4th at 929–930 (citation omitted).  Because these factors made 
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the tattoo ban part of a program of reform and rehabilitation, the total ban 

on new tattoos “for the remainder of Victor's probationary period [wa]s 

not overbroad.” Victor L., 182 Cal.App.4th at 929–930. 

Here, the prohibition on the use of gang attire or tattoos is not 

vague, as was the pornography prohibition at issue in Bahl.  It restricts 

only tattoos which would convey a gang affiliation. 

d. Sentencing condition § 2.1 reflecting the defendant used a 

motor vehicle during the commission of a felony and 

4.2(C)(7) of the judgment and sentence that the “defendant 

shall notify the CCO of any vehicles owned or regularly 

driven by him.” 

The defendant next argues this court should vacate the motor 

vehicle suspension and restriction as contained within the judgment and 

sentence. 

In Washington, a court may instruct the Department of Licensing 

to revoke a defendant's license upon a conviction of one of many crimes, 

including “[a]ny felony in the commission of which a motor vehicle is 

used.”  RCW 46.20.285(4).   

RCW 46.20.285(4) does not define “use.”  In order for this statute 

to apply, the vehicle must contribute in some way to the accomplishment 

of the crime.  State v. Batten, 140 Wn.2d 362, 365, 997 P.2d 350 (2000).  

There must be some relationship between the vehicle and the commission 

or accomplishment of the crime.  Batten, 140 Wn.2d at 365.  “Used” in the 
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statute means “employed in accomplishing something.”  State v. Hearn, 

131 Wn. App. 601, 609–10, 128 P.3d 139 (2006).  RCW 46.20.285(4) 

does not apply when the vehicle was incidental to the commission of the 

crime.  State v. Wayne, 134 Wn. App. 873, 875–76, 142 P.3d 1125 (2006). 

In Batten, the defendant was convicted of unlawful possession of a 

firearm and possession of a controlled substance.  Because the defendant 

used his car to conceal the firearm and to transport the controlled 

substance, the Supreme Court held the defendant “used” his car in the 

commission of a felony.  In State v. Dupuis, 168 Wn. App. 672, 278 P.3d 

683 (2012), this court held the defendant “used” a car while committing 

the offense of second degree taking or riding in a motor vehicle without 

the owner's permission.  In State v. Dykstra, 127 Wn. App. 1, 110 P.3d 

758 (2005) (this court also found the use of a vehicle was supported when 

the defendant and others drove around looking for cars to steal, drove 

stolen cars, had a lookout car during a theft, and drove away stolen goods 

with a car); State v. Griffin, 126 Wn. App. 700, 708, 109 P.3d 870 (2005) 

(the court found a sufficient connection between the car and the crime 

when the defendant was given cocaine in exchange for a ride in his car). 

In Alacantar-Maldonado, 184 Wn. App. 215, 340 P.3d 859 (2014), 

the defendant used his car to drive to the location where he committed the 

crime.  It was not used for the commission of the crime nor was it used to 
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transport a weapon or other items to commit the crime.  Id. at 230.  This 

court found there needed to be a more direct connection between the use 

of the vehicle and the crime to allow the Superior Court to direct the 

Department of Licensing to revoke his license under RCW 46.20.285(4). 

In the present case, and as discussed earlier, the defendants’ use of 

the car was an integral part in the commission and successful completion 

of the crimes charged.  The defendants transported themselves and their 

pistols to the crime scene in their car; parked it strategically, and left the 

crime scene with their weapons in tow in the same vehicle.  There was 

sufficient evidence for the court to direct the Department of Licensing to 

suspend the defendant’s driver’s license and other related sentencing 

conditions. 

F. THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY LEGAL 

FINANCIAL OBLIGATION (LFO) ISSUE FOR APPEAL 

AND THE LFOS IMPOSED IN HIS CASE ARE 

MANDATORY AND EXEMPT FROM INQUIRY UNDER 

RCW 10.01.160(3). 

  The defendant next argues the trial court failed to make an 

individualized determination on his ability to pay before imposing the 

LFOs.   The defendant has waived consideration of this issue. 

Under § 4.3 of the judgment and sentence, the trial court ordered 

the defendant pay a $500 victim assessment fee, $200 in court costs, and a 

$100 DNA fee.  CP 91. 
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The defendant did not challenge the trial court’s imposition of 

these mandatory LFOs at his sentencing.  In general, an appellate court 

will refuse to review any issue not raised in the trial court: “[a] defendant 

who makes no objection to the imposition of discretionary LFOs at 

sentencing is not automatically entitled to review,” and an “appellate court 

may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial 

court.”  State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 832, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). 

This court should exercise its discretion under RAP 2.5(a) and 

follow its decision in State v. Duncan, 180 Wn. App. 245, 327 P.3d 

699 (2014), petition for review filed, No.  90188–1 (Apr. 30, 2014), 

decided before State v. Blazina.  In Duncan, this court held that the 

defendant's failure to object was not because of the ability to pay LFOs 

was overlooked, rather the defendant reasonably waived the issue, 

considering “the apparent and unsurprising fact that many defendants do 

not make an effort at sentencing to suggest to the sentencing court that 

they are, and will remain, unproductive.” Duncan, 180 Wn. App at 250; 

State v. Calvin, 176 Wn. App. 1, 316 P.3d 496, (2013), petition for review 

filed, No.   89518–0 (Nov.  12, 2013) (pre- Blazina) (failure to identify a 

factual dispute or to object to a discretionary determination at sentencing 

waives associated errors on appeal). 
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Consequently, the defendant in the present case failed to preserve 

the matter for appeal and this court should not consider it.   State v. 

Blazina, 174 Wn. App. at 911, remanded, 182 Wn.2d 827 (2015).
14

 

1. Mandatory LFOs. 

The defendant does not distinguish between discretionary and 

mandatory LFOs in his brief.  For victim restitution, victim assessments, 

DNA fees, and criminal filing fees, the legislature has directed expressly 

that a defendant's ability to pay should not be taken into account by the 

trial court.   State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 102, 308 P.3d 755 (2013).  

The LFOs imposed in the present case are mandatory.  The statutory 

violation existing in Blazina applied to discretionary LFOs, not mandatory 

LFOs.  “For victim restitution, victim assessments, DNA fees, and 

criminal filing fees, the legislature has directed expressly that a 

defendant's ability to pay should not be taken into account.” State v. 

Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 102; see also, State v. Kuster, 175 Wn. App. 420, 

306 P.3d 1022 (2013) (pre-Blazina); RCW 7.68.035 (l)(a); RCW 6.18.020 

(2)(h); RCW 43.43.7541. 

                                                 
14

 In its consideration of the issue in Blazina, supra, the Supreme 

Court rejected the State’s ripeness argument.   Accordingly, the fact that 

the LFO issue may not be ripe does not preclude this court’s review of the 

issue.  However, the Supreme Court noted, an appellate court may use its 

discretion in reaching unpreserved claims of error.  Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 

830. 
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These costs are required to be paid by statute irrespective of the 

defendant's ability to pay.    

There is no error in the defendant’s sentence because the trial court 

imposed the mandatory LFOs. 

2. Due process argument concerning the mandatory DNA fee.  

RCW 43.43.7541, the court DNA fee imposition statute, 

mandates the imposition of a fee of one hundred dollars in 

every sentence imposed for a felony.   

RCW 43.43.7541 provides: 

 

DNA identification system — Collection of biological 

samples — Fee. 

 

Every sentence imposed for a crime specified in 

RCW 43.43.754 must include a fee of one hundred dollars.  

The fee is a court-ordered legal financial obligation as 

defined in RCW 9.94A.030 and other applicable law.  For a 

sentence imposed under chapter 9.94.A RCW, the fee is 

payable by the offender after payment of all other legal 

financial obligations included in the sentence has been 

completed.  For all other sentences, the fee is payable by 

the offender in the same manner as other assessments 

imposed.  The clerk of the court shall transmit eighty 

percent of the fee collected to the state treasurer for deposit 

in the state DNA database account created under RCW 

43.43.7532, and shall transmit twenty percent of the fee 

collected to the agency responsible for collection of a 

biological sample from the offender as required under 

RCW 43.43.754. 

 

The defendant claims this statute violates the substantive due 

process clause.  Defendant then implicitly argues an equal protection 

violation regarding an indigent defendant’s inability to pay. 
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Standard of review.  “Where a fundamental right is not at issue, as 

is the case here, the rational basis standard applies.” Nielsen v. Washington 

State Dep’t of Licensing, 177 Wn. App. 45, 52-53, 309 P.3d 1221 (2013).    

As to the first argument, that RCW 43.43.7541 violates substantive 

due process, the defendant sets forth the correct standard of review:  

“Where a fundamental right is not at issue, as is the case here, the rational 

basis standard applies.” Applying this deferential standard, this court 

assumes the existence of any necessary state of facts which it can 

reasonably conceive in determining whether a rational relationship exists 

between the challenged law and a legitimate state interest.  Amunrud v. 

Bd.  Of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 222, 143 P.3d 571 (2006).
15

   

The DNA fee imposition statute is rationally related to a legitimate 

state interest.  These fees help support the costs of the legislatively enacted 

DNA identification system, supporting state, federal, and local criminal 

justice and law enforcement agencies by developing a multiuser databank 

                                                 
15

 See also Parrish v. W.  Coast Hotel Co., 185 Wash.  581, 597, 55 P.2d 

1083 (1936) (statute must be unconstitutional “beyond question”), aff’d, 

300 U.S.  379, 57 S.Ct.  578, 81 L.Ed.  703 (1937); Nebbia v. New York, 

291 U.S.  502, 537–38, 54 S.Ct.  505, 78 L.Ed.  940 (1934) (every possible 

presumption is in favor of a statute's validity, and that although a court 

may hold views inconsistent with the wisdom of a law, it may not be 

annulled unless “palpably” in excess of legislative power); cited with 

approval, Amunrud, 158 Wn.2d at 215. 
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that assists these agencies in their identification of individuals involved in 

crimes and excluding individual who are subject to investigation and 

prosecution.  See, RCW 43.43.753 (finding “that DNA databases are 

important tools in criminal investigations, in the exclusion of individuals 

who are subject of investigations or prosecutions ...”).  The legislation is 

supported by a legitimate financial justification.  As this court recently 

held in State v. Thornton, No.  32478-8-III, 2015 WL 3751741 (Wash. Ct.  

App. June 16, 2015): 

The statute also furthers the purpose of funding for the state 

DNA database and agencies that collect samples and does 

not conflict with DNA sample collection and submission 

provisions of RCW 43.43.754(1) and (2).  The court thus 

properly imposed the DNA collection fee under 

RCW 43.43.7541 for Ms. Thornton's felony drug 

conviction. 

State v. Thornton, at 2.    

Therefore, there is a rational basis for the legislation.  

Equal protection claim.  Next, the defendant impliedly argues that 

the imposition of the mandatory fee upon defendants who cannot pay 

violates equal protection.  The defendant lacks standing to assert this 

mixed equal protection claim.  The general rule is that “[o]ne who is not 

adversely affected by a statute may not question its validity.” Haberman v. 

Wash.  Pub.  Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 138, 744 P.2d 1032, 750 

P.2d 254 (1987).  This basic rule of standing “prohibits a litigant ... from 
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asserting the legal rights of another.”  Greater Harbor 2000 v. City of 

Seattle, 132 Wn.2d 267, 281, 937 P.2d 1082 (1997).  It also mandates that 

a party have a “real interest therein,” State ex rel. Gebhardt v. Superior 

Court, 15 Wn.2d 673, 680, 131 P.2d 943 (1942).   

Accordingly, the defendant lacks standing and his claim fails. 

V. CONCLUSION 

 

For the reasons stated above, 

1. the defendant’s convictions for drive by shooting under counts’ 

six, seven, and eight should be affirmed; 

2. this court should remand to the superior court with an order to

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